

F. McArdle Chief Executive

Civic Offices, Civic Way, Swadlincote, Derbyshire DE11 0AH

www.south-derbys.gov.uk

Please ask for: Debra Townsend

Phone: (01283) 595848 Minicom: (01283) 595849 DX 23912 Swadlincote

Our ref: DT/CL

Your ref:

Date: 7 October 2013

Dear Councillor,

Housing and Community Services Committee

A Meeting of the **Housing and Community Services Committee** will be held in the **Council Chamber**, on **Thursday, 10 October 2013** at **18:00**. You are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully,

Chief Executive

To:- Conservative Group

Mr M SAM

Councillor Lemmon (Chairman), Councillor Hewlett (Vice-Chairman) and Councillors Ford, Harrison, Mrs. Hood, Murray and Smith.

Labour Group

Councillors Frost, Mrs. Heath, Mulgrew, Rhind, Richards and Shepherd.















AGENDA

Open to Public and Press

1	Apologies	
2	To confirm the Open Minutes of the Meeting held on 29th August 2013.	
3	To note any declarations of interest arising from any items on the Agenda	
4	To receive any questions by members of the public pursuant to Council Procedure Rule No.10.	
5	To receive any questions by Members of the Council pursuant to Council procedure Rule No. 11.	
6	Reports of Overview and Scrutiny Committee	
7	FIVE YEAR MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMMES FOR COUNCIL HOUSING 2012 - 2017.F	5 - 9
8	NEW TENANCY POLICY	10 - 27
9	WORLD WAR ONE COMMEMORATIONS	28 - 30
10	WORK PROGRAMME	31 - 33

Exclusion of the Public and Press:

11 The Chairman may therefore move:-

That in accordance with Section 100 (A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the remainder of the Meeting as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that there would be disclosed exempt information as defined in the paragraph of Part I of the Schedule 12A of the Act indicated in the header to each report on the Agenda.

To receive any Exempt questions by Members of the Council pursuant to Council procedure Rule No. 11.

- To receive the Exempt Minutes of the Meeting held on 29th August 2013.
- 14 REORGANISATION OF THE COMMUNITY AND PLANNING SERVICES DIRECTORATE















REPORT TO: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AGENDA ITEM: 7

SERVICES COMMITTEE

DATE OF 10th OCTOBER 2013 CATEGORY: DELEGATED

REPORT FROM: DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND OPEN

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

MEMBERS' LEE CARTER DOC:

CONTACT POINT: EXT 5957

SUBJECT: FIVE YEAR MAINTENANCE AND

IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMMES FOR REF:

COUNCIL HOUSING 2012 - 2017

WARD(S) ALL TERMS OF

AFFECTED: REFERENCE: HCSO1

1. Recommendation

1.1 Members approve the half year progression during year two, 2013/2014, of the five year maintenance and improvement programme with amendments as detailed in the report.

2. Purpose of Report

- 2.1 To provide progress reports as requested at the February Committee 2012, this report being the half yearly update, during the second year of the five year programme.
- 2.2 To inform members of any programmes that have been subject to minor changes following more detailed surveys and analysis, or unforeseen works that have occurred since the original committee report.
- 2.3 To present to members a variety of before and after photographs of the projects being undertaken during 2013/2014, Appendix A.

3. Detail

3.1 Decent Homes Standard

- 3.1.1 All of the Council's properties remain compliant with the decency standard as a result of the works undertaken during 2012/2013 and the first half of 2013/2014, including the completion of unforeseen non decent works such as ad-hoc heating failures.
- 3.1.2 The updated stock condition survey and HRA business plan indicates a spend requirement of just over £27M over the five year period of 2012/2017. From the start of the financial year 2012 to this half year progress report £6.5m has been spent, as of 31 August 2013. Plage remainder of the programme for 2013/2014 is

to spend a further £3.8m including disabled adaptations. However, due to the delayed procurement process some carry forward is likely to be required to be taken into year 2014/2015.

3.3 Projects and programmes

- 3.3.1 The previous planned external maintenance contract programme ended 31st March, 2013 and completed all the allocated works and budgetary spend. The revised start on site date for the new programme is now December 2013, following the corporate review of procurement. Due to this unseasonal proposed start, officers will be working closely with the successful contractor to ensure minimal disruption to tenants.
- 3.3.2 The replacement Kitchen & Bathroom programme also completed its previous contract at 31st March 2013. However, the kitchen element was extended with additional work until September 2013. As previously agreed by Committee the shower upgrades will now be included within a separate bathroom specification. The result of this presents separate kitchen and bathroom contracts. Both are currently out to tender, and the start on site date for both is projected at November 2013.
- 3.3.3 The current central heating replacement contract is due to finish (with extension) by 30th September 2013. Although the principle of a further extension has been agreed with the Procurement Team and the Director of Finance and Corporate Services the contractor has requested a substantial increase on the rates. The new heating programme is currently out to tender and a contractor is proposed to be in place for January 2014. To carry us through the intervening period our day to day responsive heating contractor, is prepared to carry out full heating replacement works at the rate specified in the out going replacement contract. Consequently this temporary measure is in place until January 2014 and will only be utilised to undertake complete heating failures that cannot wait until the new contract is in place.
- 3.3.4 The external insulation contract is currently on site and 9 properties have been completed to date. The Council is currently in the process of claiming the £130,000 in grant funding that was successfully awarded to this contract.
- 3.3.5 The Council continues to improve the loft insulation standards to the latest requirement, currently 275mm in the loft space. A further 71 properties are due to be completed this financial year and this concludes all loft insulation upgrades to the current standard of 275mm.
- 3.3.6 The re-roofing programme started on site 7th January 2013, and has already completed year 1 and is nearing completion of this year's allocation. Recommendations for alterations to this programme are detailed at 3.4.1
- 3.3.7 The Council has made a commitment to tenants that all properties will have an over bath shower installed by 2017. To date 240 have been installed and the remainder are on target to be complete by 2017.
- 3.3.8 The Council has committed to ensuring that all 3024 properties have the latest mains connected smoke detectors installed and these replacement works started via the 2012/13 electrical rewire programme and have been incorporated into the

- new electrical rewire contract, which started in January 2013. This will ensure that all properties will have the latest technology installed. This programme is on course for completion by 2017.
- 3.3.9 The pilot garage site improvements works were also delayed due to the Corporate review of the procurement process. The pilot scheme, now expected to complete in March 2014, will be reviewed to determine how the wider garage site programme moves forward in future years subject to the approval of the Committee.
- 3.3.10 The Council continues to receive requests for parking upgrades from around the district and these are being assessed and prioritised to be incorporated into the environmental improvements programme. A separate report will come before Committee following a detailed survey, which will be undertaken by the newly appointed Project Officer Environmental.
- 3.3.11 Improvements and modernisations to a number of supported housing communal rooms have been completed so far, and a budget allocation of £20,000 for the remainder of the 5 year programme remains on target.
- 3.3.12 Lift upgrades/replacements to flat accommodation blocks were anticipated to be complete by 31st March 2013. However, complications with one of the lift installations, namely Unity Close, Church Gresley, required an alteration to the original specification. The contractor will complete the two remaining lifts by 31 March 2014. A separate feasibility is currently being undertaken on the Unity Close lift and details of this will be reported back to Committee. The lift replacement works will be co-ordinated, planned and carried out in consultation with the residents who rely on such essential facilities, to ensure that little or no loss of amenity is experienced whilst the works are being undertaken. In addition the contractor and Housing Service will provide additional support to residents during the three weeks the lifts will be out action i.e. practical help with shopping bags, additional warden visits, etc.
- 3.3.13 The Council has 222 properties classed as non-traditional construction. The Council has undertaken an initial investigation into the future of these properties, and requires some external specialist advice to formulate a strategy for the future of non-traditional properties. The appointment of a specialist is currently being procured. One of the key considerations will be to take a view on the lifespan of the properties balanced against the potential investment needed in the short to medium term.
- 3.3.14 The table below shows the 2013/2014 spend to 31 August 2013 and gives detail for actions on any projected under/overspends:

Table 1: Progress on Spending Plan 2012/13

EXPENDITURE PROFILE	Total Budget 2013-2014 Inc. Carry Forward	Actual Spend to 31.8.13	Comments	
Planned external maintenance	497,113	112,524	New contract to Start December 2013, likely carry forward to 2014/2015	
Kitchen replacements	887,634	157,576	New contract to start November 2013, likely carry forward to 2014/2015	
Bathroom replacements	259,069	54,030	New contract to start November 2013, likely carry forward to 2014/2015	
Central heating upgrades	711,901	420,456	New Contract to start January 2014, On target for 2013/2014	
Electrical rewires	562,482	178,303	On target for 2013/2014	
Roofing	685,369	617,445	Proposed to bring forward 2014/2015 programme as work is of good quality and contractor has capacity.	
External insulation	340,000	107,909	On target for 2013/2014	
Loft Insulation	171,877	10,000	Mostly grant funded works following tender.	
Door replacements	108,432	15,058	New contract to Start December 2013	
Window replacements	7,504	7,504	Complete	
Showers	894,106	157,975	New contract to start November 2013, likely carry forward to 2014/2015	
Smoke Alarms	268,000	69,669	Included as part of rewire contract. On target for 2013/2014	
Non traditional properties	120,000	0.00	Delayed to allow concentration on larger scale projects.	
Environmental and garage site Improvements	300,000	0.00	Completion of pilot due March 2014	
Community Rooms /communal areas	30,000	20,000	On Target for 2013/2014	
Lift replacements	45,887	0.00	On Target for 2013/2014, excluding Unity Close currently being reviewed.	
Balancing figure for unforeseen Decent Homes work.	52,860	19,256	Heating and other unforeseen failures	
Sub-total	5,942,234	1,947,705		
Disabled persons adaptations	300,000	203,000	On Target for 2013/2014	
Total	6,242,234	2,150,705		

3.4 Proposed Alterations to Agreed Five Year Programme

3.4.1 Due to the delay in procuring some of the contracts during 2013/2014, it is proposed to accelerate the reroofing and external insulation contracts and bring forward properties from 2014/2015 into this year's programme. This has two main advantages one being that we commit closer to our proposed budget spend for 2013/2014 and the Council is able to undertake works at today's rates rather than be affected by a probable inflationary increase.

3.5 Disabled Adaptations

3.5.1 The adaptations process and budget monitoring continues to be managed and procured as part of the Strategic Housing team's responsibilities. The budget is for major adaptations for 2013/2014 is on programme to fully commit the £300,000 allocation.

4. <u>Financial Implications</u>

4.1 The report is not proposing an increase of previously planned expenditure. It is proposing adjustments to previously profiled spend for 2013/2014 to ensure that the agreed five year programme is achieved.

5. <u>Corporate Implications</u>

5.1 The corporate implications of the approved five year programme has direct relevancy on all four of the Council's corporate themes and specifically on a number of priorities contained within each theme.

6. Community Implications

6.1 The approved five year programme is delivering on tenant priorities of replacing tired and outworn internal fittings, environmental improvements and the provision for overbath showers.

7. <u>Background Papers</u>

- 7.1 Housing and Community Services Committee February 2012
- 7.2 Housing and Community Services Committee October 2012
- 7.3 Housing and Community Services Committee June 2013
- 7.3 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan June 2011

REPORT TO: Housing & Community Services AGENDA ITEM: 8

Committee

CATEGORY:

DATE OF

10th October 2013

DELEGATED

MEETING:

REPORT FROM: Director of Housing & Environmental

Services

OPEN

DOC:

MEMBERS'

Richard Knott, Housing Operations

CONTACT POINT: Manager (ext 5797)

ΑII

REF:

SUBJECT: New Tenancy Policy

TERMS OF

REFERENCE: HCS01

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

1. Recommendation

1.1 That Members approve in principle the new draft Tenancy Policy ahead of a 4 week consultation programme.

1.2 That if no material changes are proposed following the consultation process, as assessed by the Chairman of the Committee, the amended policy be adopted and implemented immediately. Material proposals to be the subject of a further Committee report.

2. Purpose of Report

- 2.1 To inform and seek members' approval of the draft Tenancy Policy. The policy incorporates the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.
- 2.2 To seek members approval of the proposal to open wider consultation with current tenants and applicants on the Housing Register and other stakeholders.

3. Detail

- 3.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, all local authorities (whether they have retained housing stock or not) have a duty to produce a tenancy strategy, setting out the objectives to be taken into consideration by individual affordable housing providers as they make decisions about their own tenancy policies.
- 3.2 South Derbyshire District Council's Tenancy Strategy was agreed by this Committee in November 2012. It sets the strategic priorities in terms of tenancy allocations for Registered Providers in the district.
- 3.3 With a retained landlord function South Derbyshire District Council Housing Services therefore has a duty to publish a Tenancy Policy which describes the types of tenancies it will offer and the way in which these tenancies will be managed. The Tenancy Policy has been developed with full regard to South

Derbyshire District Council's Tenancy Strategy. The policy follows the principles and objectives of the Strategy and should be read in conjunction with it.

- 3.4 The Tenancy Policy sets out:
 - The types of tenancies the Council will offer
 - The circumstances in which tenancies will be granted
 - The process for reviewing tenancies
 - How succession rights will be managed
 - Our approach to Tenancy Sustainment
- 3.5 Housing Services proposes to grant 4 types of Tenancy. These are:
 - Introductory Tenancies
 - Flexible Tenancies
 - Secure Tenancies
 - Temporary Agreements
- 3.6 Introductory Tenancies will be granted to all applicants new to social housing, for an initial period of 12 months. These may be extended if there is a breach of tenancy conditions. (Introductory tenancies are already in place and have been used by the Council for over 10 years).
- 3.7 Flexible tenancies will be granted at the end of a successful Introductory Tenancy in line with the already agreed Tenancy Strategy. The majority of these will be five years in length. There may be some exceptional circumstances where a two year tenancy will be granted. A review will be carried out between 12 and 6 months before the end of the term in all tenancies.
- 3.8 This review will determine whether or not the tenancy will be extended at the same or another property for a further period of, usually, 5 years.
- 3.9 If the household make up has changed, resulting in under or overcrowding, a flexible tenancy may be offered at an alternative property to ensure the best use of housing stock and to ensure housing remains affordable for the tenant.
- 3.10 The review will also determine whether a new flexible tenancy will be granted at any property. If the tenant's circumstances have changed significantly, for example, in terms of an increase in household income above the threshold set in the Allocations Policy, or whether there are proceedings to recover the property in the courts.
- 3.11 Tenants may appeal any adverse decision by submitting in writing how the decision does not comply with the Tenancy Policy within 21 days of them being notified of that decision.
- 3.12 Secure tenancies will remain in place for all existing secure tenants of South Derbyshire District Council. If a secure or assured tenant from any social landlord transfers to one of our properties they will retain their secure status at the new property.
- 3.13 Secure tenancies will be offered to the large majority of tenants granted Introductory Tenancies in Supported (previously Sheltered) Accommodation.

3.14 Temporary agreements may be granted to homeless applicants or people in need of short term housing on a supported or emergency basis.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 Once the policy has been approved in principle new tenancy agreements will be created and the current secure tenancy agreement reviewed. The adoption of a new agreement will involve mailing out the new terms and conditions to all existing tenants. Supplementary guides and easy read agreements will also be published. This can be met from existing budgets.

5. Community Implications

5.1 There will be a full and open 4 week consultation process if the draft policy is approved by this committee. Applicants, Tenants, Tenants' groups and other stakeholders will be able to make comment on the proposed policy.

6. Background Papers

6.1 The proposed tenancy policy is attached at Appendix A.



DRAFT TENANCY POLICY 2013

Version control				
Version	Date	Author	Reason for change	
1	September 2013	Richard Knott, Housing Operations Manager	New policy provisions in the localism Act 2011	

1.	0	INTRODUCTION	3
2.	0	AIMS & OBJECTIVES	4
3.	0	LOCAL CONTEXT	4
4.	0 4.1 4.7 4.20 4.23		5 5 7 7
5.	0 5.16 5.20 5.25	Circumstances where a new flexible tenancy may not be offered at any property	7 10 10 11
6.	6.1	FLEXIBLE TENANCY APPEALS Appeals about the length of the flexible tenancy or about decisions not to offer a new flexible next at the same or another property	11 11
7.	0	ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE	12
8.	0 8.2 8.5 8.8 8.10	SUCCESSION Secure tenancies granted before 1st April 2012 Secure tenancies granted on or after 1st April 2012 and flexible tenants. Successor is unable to remain Discretionary succession	13 13 13 14 14
9.	0	SUPPORTING TENANTS	14
10	0.0	REVIEWING THE TENANCY POLICY	15

1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, all local authorities (whether they have retained housing stock or not) have a duty to produce a tenancy strategy, setting out the objectives to be taken into consideration by individual affordable housing providers as they make decisions about their own tenancy policies. (Both stock owned by South Derbyshire District Council and its registered housing provider partners are referred to as "affordable housing").
- 1.2 The Localism Act 2011 allows affordable housing providers more freedom to:
 - Provide new tenants with a fixed term tenancy where it's believed to be more appropriate than a lifetime tenancy;
 - Establish the length of the fixed-term tenancy to be offered;
 - Develop their own Tenancy Policy setting out the criteria to be issued in determining whether to issue a new tenancy at the end of any fixed term;
 - Continue to grant lifetime tenancies if they wish either for all or specific household groups/property types/locations;
 - Let new build homes or re-let of existing homes under the new affordable rent tenure, which allows for affordable housing providers to charge higher rent levels (upto 80% of market rents).
- 1.3 South Derbyshire's tenancy strategy (agreed by the Housing and Community Services Committee in November 2012) has been developed within the context of the Council's overall Corporate Plan 2009-14 and its strategic objective to "Deliver a range of affordable and decent housing options within safe and clean neighbourhoods."
- 1.4 With a retained landlord function South Derbyshire District Council Housing Services has a duty to publish a Tenancy Policy which describes the types of tenancies we will offer and the way in which these tenancies will be managed.
- 1.5 The Tenancy Policy has been developed with full regard to South Derbyshire District Council's Tenancy Strategy. The policy follows the principles and objectives of the Tenancy Strategy and should be read in conjunction with it.
- 1.6 This Tenancy Policy sets out:
 - The types of tenancies the Council will offer
 - The circumstances in which tenancies will be granted
 - The process for reviewing tenancies
 - How succession rights will be managed
 - Our approach to Tenancy Sustainment
- 1.7 This policy applies to all new tenancies that commence from [date to be confirmed following consultation].

2.0 Aims & Objectives

2.1 The Council will issue tenancies that are compatible with the purpose of the accommodation, the needs of individual households, the sustainability of the community and the efficient use of our housing stock.

2.2 The Policy seeks to:

- Ensure our customers and staff are aware of the types of tenancies offered
- Ensure that all our tenancies are transparent and fair
- Aid mobility and respond to the changing needs of our customers
- Make best use of our housing stock especially by reducing under occupation and overcrowding, and ensuring adapted homes are lived in by those who need them
- Have regard to SDDC's Tenancy Strategy
- Provide all tenants with the advice and support to be able to manage their tenancies satisfactorily

3.0 Local Context

- 3.1 South Derbyshire is a semi-rural district in central England covering an area of over 100 square miles. Its population is growing and currently stands at 94,600 (2011 Census). It adjoins, and is heavily influenced by the City of Derby to the north and Burton-upon-Trent to the west. The town of Swadlincote, in the south of the District, is the main urban centre with a population of around 33,000. The percentage population growth of South Derbyshire is expected to be twice that of Derbyshire and England over the next 20 years.
- 3.2 The Council owns and manages 3,024 properties, comprising 2,043 general needs dwellings and another 981 units of supported housing accommodation, primarily for tenants with disabilities and those over 60 years old.
- 3.3 On average there are 200 vacant Council properties let to new or transfer applicants each year with, on average, a further 50 let by Registered Providers (Housing Associations). There are currently 2,135 applicants (September 2013) on the district wide housing register.
- 3.4 As at October 2013, the Council currently grants Introductory Tenancies to applicants new to social housing and secure tenancies to existing tenants of social housing. Introductory tenancies are converted to secure tenancies upon successful completion of an initial 12 month period.
- 3.5 New tenancies are granted to applicants from the district wide housing register. These applicants will have a range of housing needs which may include homelessness, overcrowding, health issues and family breakdowns.

4.0 Types of Tenancies to be Offered

4.1 Introductory Tenancies

- 4.2 The majority of new tenants will be introductory tenants for the first year of their tenancy in line with the Council's Introductory Tenancy Procedure. Their tenancies will become flexible or secure tenancies at the end of this period, provided the introductory tenancy's conditions have not been broken.
- 4.3 All introductory tenants will receive a tenancy agreement setting out the introductory tenancy period and indicating the type of tenancy to be granted at the end of the introductory period, subject to there having been no breach of the tenancy agreement during the introductory tenancy period.
- 4.4 New tenants who are transferring from another social or affordable home, whether with SDDC or another social landlord, will not normally be offered an introductory tenancy if they are a secure or assured tenant or hold a flexible (fixed term) tenancy.
- 4.5 Before the end of the twelve month introductory period, the tenant may be offered:
 - A flexible or secure tenancy, or
 - an extension to the introductory period, if they need more time to demonstrate that they can keep to tenancy terms, or to clear rent arrears; or
 - the tenancy may be ended.
- 4.6 An introductory tenancy may be brought to an end if the tenancy terms are broken. This includes where tenants commit crime, or anti-social behaviour, or fail to pay their rent.

4.7 Flexible Tenancies

- 4.8 A flexible tenancy is a form of secure tenancy, which is for a fixed period, and was created under the Localism Act 2011. Although it contains many features of a secure tenancy, the main difference is that a secure tenancy can only be brought to an end by the landlord if a court order is granted, and the court considered possession reasonable. With a flexible tenancy, the court has to award the landlord possession as long as the fixed term has expired, the correct notices have been served and any appeal has been considered.
- 4.9 From the date on which the Tenancy Policy is implemented, the majority of new tenancies offered by the Council will be flexible tenancies following the completion of a satisfactory introductory tenancy.
- 4.10 The majority of flexible tenancies will be for an initial period of five years. Five year flexible tenancies provide a reasonable degree of security, for example for

- vulnerable people, and for people with children, while enabling the Council to make the best use of the housing stock for those in need. Flexible tenancies will be subject to review toward the end of the term in line with the renewal criteria.
- 4.11 Fixed term tenancies of less than five years may be considered for applicants being offered supported accommodation as a "halfway" house as they make the transition to independent living. These are more appropriate for people leaving specialised accommodation (e.g. Hostels) to encourage them to take responsibility for their own lives and utilise opportunities for greater independence through employment and to move-on to more mainstream accommodation.
- 4.12 A review of each tenancy will be carried out between six and 12 months before the end of the tenancy term. This review will aim to assess the individual circumstances of each tenant so that an informed decision can be taken as to whether to renew the tenancy.
- 4.13 A decision will be made no less than six months before the end of the tenancy, in order to allow adequate time to find alternative accommodation if a tenancy is not being renewed.
- 4.14 In practice the majority of flexible tenancies will be renewed several times, allowing tenants to be settled in their local community, much as with a secure tenancy. However, some tenants' needs may change over time, and we will work with them to move them to accommodation which meets those needs. Where tenants no longer need a particular type of accommodation such as a larger family home or an adapted home the flexible tenancy will allow us to move them to more suitable accommodation and make that property available to people who need it
- 4.15 Flexible tenancies will normally be renewed for a period of 5 years as a matter of course. However, there may be exceptional circumstances which may justify granting a flexible tenancy of less than five years. An example would be where the tenant has not kept to an agreement to correct a breach of the tenancy agreement during the flexible tenancy. This will be addressed at the review meeting, and a new flexible tenancy of two rather than five years may be offered.
- 4.16 The use of shorter tenancies in these circumstances is intended to help reinforce the tenant's responsibilities under the tenancy agreement and to enable any necessary support to be put in place.
- 4.17 If there has been a major change in circumstances the Council may not renew a fixed term tenancy. Examples may include:
 - The property is under-occupied. The tenant would normally be offered an alternative home with a registered provider (we would class under-occupation as permanently under-occupying by more than two bedrooms).

- The tenant's financial circumstances have significantly improved so that other housing options are available, such as home ownership or renting at market value.
- Breaches of tenancy or tenancy fraud have been identified during the fixed term tenancy review process (which would result in enforcement action).
- Possession proceedings have commenced for breach of tenancy conditions (for example, rent payments, anti-social behaviour).
- The tenant and/or his or her advocate do not engage in the review of the flexible tenancy.
- The property has been extensively adapted at significant cost (such as a tracking hoist, through the floor lift, etc) for a person with a disability but the household no longer requires the adaptations. In such cases, the tenant would normally be offered an alternative home with a registered provider
- Works are planned on the property in the next five years (which would require its redevelopment or demolition)
- 4.18 Exceptions to this may include where care and support needs have been identified and these can only be maintained if the household continues to remain in the property (and the loss of the care and support would be detrimental to the household)
- 4.19 Older people living in designated supported accommodation schemes will be offered secure lifetime tenancies following the successful completion of the introductory tenancy period

4.20 Secure Lifetime Tenancies

- 4.21 Lifetime secure and assured tenancies are those which are only reviewed if the tenant breaches the conditions of their tenancy agreement.
- 4.22 Lifetime tenancies are intended for:
 - All existing tenants of South Derbyshire District Council or those of registered providers who currently have a lifetime tenancy agreement.
 - New lettings to designated supported older person accommodation.

4.23 Temporary Agreements

4.24 These agreements are short-term, usually for no more than 12 months, which give a tenant the right to stay in a scheme such as hostel/supported or temporary housing until they are ready to be re-housed.

5.0 Flexible Tenancy Renewal or termination

5.1 A review meeting will be held to consider if a new flexible tenancy will be offered at the same or another property.

- 5.2 The Council will contact the tenant at least 42 weeks before the tenancy expires to seek to arrange a review meeting, which should ideally take place at least 39 weeks before the tenancy expires. The meeting will be arranged at a time that is convenient for the tenant(s) and the tenant will be asked to bring all relevant information to the meeting.
- 5.3 The review meeting will be organised by a Housing Officer. The tenant(s) will be encouraged to invite any support worker, friend or other representative the tenant may wish to bring. For joint tenancies both parties should attend. Tenants must participate in the review and provide any information requested. Every effort will be made to ensure that tenants participate in the review and that they are held in a way that is sensitive to the needs of vulnerable people. This may involve holding meetings in tenants' homes if preferred.
- 5.4 The tenant needs to respond and co-operate with invitations to arrange a review: the Council will make at least four attempts to contact them, including: initial letter, telephone call and/or email, attempted home visit, and follow-up letter. If the tenant does not respond we will attempt to verify whether the tenant is actually living at the address (or subletting, or has abandoned, for example), and will also investigate any information suggesting that special support is required for reasons of tenant vulnerability, lack of literacy or language skills.
- 5.5 If we do not identify any issues of vulnerability, we will inform the tenant of our final attempt to make contact, and issue six months' notice of our intention to end the tenancy on its expiry date.
- 5.6 In some circumstances the review meeting can be held without the tenant being present. In these cases the tenant must be living at the property and be unable to participate in the review due to vulnerability or for some other good reason. Instead a support worker, friend or representative of the tenant will be invited **to** attend the review meeting. In any event, the review in these circumstances will only occur with the tenant's consent.
- 5.7 The review will assess whether the combined income and capital of the tenant, their spouse, civil partner or partner are at a level that they are no longer entitled to occupy social housing in accordance with the threshold set in the Allocations Policy. For tenants who aspire to other housing options, they will be made an appointment with the Housing Options Team to explore this further.
- 5.8 Advice will be given where appropriate on other housing options the tenant, or members of their household, may be interested in such as; Supported Accommodation, mutual exchange and housing in the private rented sector.
- 5.9 Advice may be given on a range of matters including signposting to other Council services or the Tenancy Sustainment Officer. Referrals may be made to other services such as Adult or Children's Services. The meeting should also be an

opportunity for the tenant to discuss any difficulties they are experiencing in managing their tenancy or to report any nuisance or harassment that may have gone unreported.

- 5.10 For tenants on low incomes, the review will also consider whether they are receiving all benefits that they are entitled to.
- 5.11 An assessment of the size of property needed by the tenant will be completed using the Bedroom Standard in the Council's Allocations Policy, to determine if there is under occupation or overcrowding. The household members included in the assessment will be the same as those included in any application for housing under the Housing Allocations Policy. Friends, lodgers and sub tenants living with the tenant are excluded.
- 5.12 If the property is under occupied, in most cases, an alternative property which better meets the tenant's needs will be offered in due course. Moving to a smaller property may make the rent more affordable. If there is overcrowding, and a transfer application has not yet been completed advice will be given about making a transfer application, applying for a mutual exchange and any other options. A further flexible tenancy at the same address will be issued so long as the family are not statutorily overcrowded.
- 5.13 If the property is no longer meeting the needs of the tenant and his/her household, the review will consider what options might be available to better meet those needs. For tenants with medical or mobility needs, a transfer application may be needed, or it may be appropriate to consider adaptations to the tenant's current home. If the property has been adapted for a person with a disability and there is now no such person living at the property, the review will consider what the future housing needs of the resident household are, and complete a transfer application
- 5.14 Any proven breaches of the tenancy agreement and agreements to remedy those breaches will be considered.
- 5.15 Following the review, the following outcomes are possible:
 - Tenant offered a new five year flexible tenancy at the same address. This will apply to most tenants;
 - Tenant offered a new two year flexible tenancy at the same address. This will apply where there have been breaches of tenancy, rent arrears, or where the review has identified a need to move but no suitable property is available immediately;
 - Tenant offered new flexible tenancy at an alternative address. This will apply where the home no longer meets the needs of the tenant, and an alternative home can be identified before the tenancy expires;
 - Tenancy ended: this will apply where the tenant refuses to engage in the review, where the tenant is no longer resident at the address, where the tenant's resources

exceed the financial limits set in our allocation policy; or where there have been serious and persistent breaches of the tenancy agreement and legal action is already being pursued against the tenant

5.16 Circumstances where a new flexible tenancy may be offered but not at the same property

- 5.17 These are where there is under occupation or where there are adaptations, which the resident household no longer requires, that could be used by another household. In most cases the tenant will not be offered a new flexible tenancy at the same property and will be offered the opportunity to bid, for a maximum period of six months, for a flexible tenancy at an alternative property, of the size needed. If bidding is unsuccessful, one direct offer of accommodation will be made.
- 5.18 Any direct offer will take into account where possible, and subject to the availability of properties, the tenants' preferences, support networks and any other relevant considerations. The Council's Allocations policy allows for up to 5% of lettings each year to be let directly to tenants, without being advertised through Choice Based Lettings.
- 5.19 With regard to under occupation it may be appropriate to offer a new flexible tenancy at the same property where:
 - The impact moving could have on a serious health condition of the tenant or another household member
 - The property has been adapted for a disabled person and it would be costly and disruptive to reinstate those adaptations at another property
 - The household will shortly not be under occupying, for example where dependent children will require separate bedrooms in the immediate future.

5.20 Circumstances where a new flexible tenancy may not be offered at any property

- 5.21 There has been a serious and persistent breach of the Tenancy Agreement at a level where the Council has commenced possession proceedings. Some examples of persistent breaches include a failure to keep to a rent arrears agreement for a sustained period and causing persistent nuisance.
- 5.22 When deciding not to offer a new tenancy at any property, regard will be made to the views of any support agency working with the tenant and their family, the vulnerability of household members and the impact on other household members of not offering any new tenancy. The impact that offering another tenancy may have on neighbours and the community will also be considered where the breach of the tenancy agreement relates to nuisance or anti-social behaviour.
- 5.23 The tenant or member of their household has been convicted of serious housing related anti-social behaviour in another court, and the offence meets the criteria to

trigger any Mandatory Right of Possession. (**NB** The government at the time of writing this policy is proposing to create a mandatory Right of Possession in some circumstances. This may therefore become the subject of forthcoming legislation and guidance. This section of the policy will only be implemented if any such guidance is published and the necessary changes to legislation are made).

5.24 The tenant has not participated in the review and it would have been reasonable for them to participate, and where their non participation is unrelated to their vulnerability.

5.25 Ending a flexible tenancy

- 5.26 Following the review meeting the Housing Officer will decide whether or not to offer a new flexible tenancy at the same or another property. This decision will then be proposed to a senior officer for final sign off.
- 5.27 If agreed a Notice of Non-Renewal will be served at least six months before the tenancy is due to end setting out:
 - That the landlord does not propose to grant a further tenancy on expiry of the term
 - Why no further tenancy is being granted
 - That the tenant has a right to appeal, how they can do this and the timescales for appealing
 - A Notice Requiring Possession will then be served on the tenant giving at least two
 months notice that possession is required. This can be served at any time until the
 last day of the tenancy (although such a last day notice would have the effect of
 extending the tenancy by two months). If the tenant does not move out on the last
 day of the tenancy, a court order will be applied for to end the tenancy.
- 5.28 Where a flexible tenancy is being ended by the tenant, at least four weeks written notice must be given by the tenant to South Derbyshire District Council. The tenancy will then come to an end on the date provided.

6.0 Flexible Tenancy Appeals

- 6.1 Appeals about the length of the flexible tenancy or about decisions not to offer a new flexible tenancy at the same or another property
- 6.2 Following an offer to grant a flexible tenancy, or service of notice by the Council on an introductory tenant confirming that their introductory tenancy is to become a flexible tenancy, appeals can be made by the tenant on the basis that the length of flexible tenancy does not comply with the Tenancy Policy.
- 6.3 The tenant can also appeal against the decision not to offer a new flexible tenancy at the same or another property in accordance with the Tenancy Policy.

- 6.4 In line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, such an appeal request must be made within 21 days of the tenant receiving the flexible tenancy offer or Notice of Non-Renewal. The appeal should be requested in writing and needs to set out why the tenant considers the action proposed does not comply with the Tenancy Policy.
- 6.5 The Council (as at October 2013) already operates an appeal hearing process on the proposed ending of Introductory Tenancies. These are chaired by the Director of Service with support from the Chief Legal Officer. This process ensures that the full reasons for an appeal are considered as it may be difficult for the tenant to capture all circumstances in writing. The Housing Officer presents the rationale for ending the tenancy. The Tenant is able to make their case verbally as well as via any representative they are allowed to bring.
- 6.6 It is proposed that the appeal process for Flexible Tenancies will mirror that currently undertaken for Introductory Tenancies. Where the appeal is being considered on the basis of non-renewal the tenant must be notified of the hearing date and the Hearing must be carried out, before the date specified in the notice as the earliest that formal possession proceedings will be commenced i.e. the appeal process must be completed before an application to court is made.
- 6.7 Once a final decision is made by the Appeal Hearing the reasons for the decision will be set out clearly in writing.
- 6.8 The Hearing can decide to:
 - Uphold the original decision
 - Offer an alternative flexible tenancy term in line with the Tenancy Policy
 - Offer a secure tenancy in line with the Tenancy Policy
 - Offer a further flexible tenancy at the same or another property in line with the Tenancy Policy.
- 6.9 If the original decision is upheld, the tenant will be informed of how they can challenge the reasonableness of the decision either by making a complaint to the Housing Ombudsman, bringing a claim for Judicial Review or obtaining independent housing advice.

7.0 Advice and assistance

- 7.1 Tenants will be offered advice and assistance in any situation where they have been affected by a decision to offer either:
 - A flexible tenancy on a reduced term
 - A flexible tenancy at another property or,
 - No further flexible tenancy at any property.

- 7.2 If a further flexible tenancy is being offered at another property advice will include how to bid for another property (unless a direct offer is being made), how long it may take before another property is likely to become available and general advice on moving and what needs to be done to prepare for a move. More detailed advice and assistance can be given to suit individual circumstances particularly where tenants are vulnerable.
- 7.3 If no further flexible tenancy is being offered at any property advice will be given including accessing private rented housing in South Derbyshire, Low Cost Home Ownership and Right to Buy.

8.0 Succession

(NB This section applies to all tenants both flexible and secure tenants.)

8.1 When a tenant dies the tenancy can sometimes be passed on to another member of the family and this is known as succession. There are different succession rights in law for different types of tenancies and this is known as a statutory succession.

8.2 Secure tenancies granted before 1st April 2012

- 8.3 The law allows for one statutory succession to either:
 - The deceased tenant's spouse or civil partner provided they were residing with the deceased tenant at the time of their death as their main home, *or*
 - A member of the deceased tenant's family who had been residing with the deceased tenant for twelve months prior to the tenant's death as their main home.
- 8.4 Family members are defined as; parents, grandparents, children, grandchildren, siblings, uncles, aunts, nephews and nieces and partners. The law does not allow for joint succession, so if there are a number of potential joint successors they need to choose who will take over the tenancy. If they cannot choose, the landlord is able to do so. Where the successor is not a spouse or civil partner but is a member of the family, and the property is too large for them, they can be granted the tenancy of a smaller property which meets their needs.

8.5 Secure tenancies granted on or after 1st April 2012 and flexible tenants.

- 8.6 The law allows one statutory succession to a spouse or civil partner of the deceased tenant, who was living with them at the time of the tenant's death as their main home.
- 8.7 Where there is a statutory succession to a flexible tenancy, the tenancy will last until the flexible tenancy ends. The offer of a new flexible tenancy will then be considered in line with the Tenancy Policy.

8.8 Successor is unable to remain

8.9 Where the property is too large for the statutory successor the Council will require them to move to an alternative property which meets their needs unless their circumstances are exceptional. Housing need will be assessed in line with the Council's Bedroom Standard in the Allocations Policy. The statutory successor can bid for alternative properties for six months after which if no property is selected a direct offer will be made.

8.10 Discretionary succession

- 8.11 In certain circumstances if the tenant dies and there has already been one statutory succession at the property, the Council may allow a person or household to remain in the property. To be eligible the applicant must:
 - Be a spouse or civil partner of the deceased secure tenant and have lived with them as their main home for a minimum of one year, or
 - Be a family member defined as; parents, grandparents, adult children, grandchildren and brothers and sisters who have lived with the deceased secure tenant as their main home for a minimum of three years.
- 8.12 Where there is more than one person living in the household who is eligible for a discretionary succession, the Council expects the household to decide who should benefit. Provided that person meets the criteria outlined here, the Council will generally respect this choice. However, the final decision will be agreed by the Council.
- 8.13 Discretionary successors will only be able to remain in the original home, if it is the size needed in accordance with the Council's Bedroom Standard in the Housing Allocation Policy. If the discretionary successor is required to move they will be able to bid for an alternative property for six months after which one direct offer will be made.
- 8.14 Where the criteria above is met, a new flexible tenancy will be offered (following the successful completion of an introductory tenancy). This may be at the original home, or another property, depending on the size of property needed which will be assessed under the Council's Bedroom Standard or any equivalent standard set out in the Housing Allocation Policy. If a property, other than the original home is offered the applicant will be able to bid for a period of six months after which one direct offer will be made. Upon expiry of the flexible tenancy a further flexible tenancy may be offered in line with the Tenancy Policy.

9.0 Supporting Tenants

9.1 The Council is committed to ensuring that tenants are well informed about their rights, responsibilities and how to access services. Information is available through

a range of media including a comprehensive sign up interview at the start of a tenancy, tenant's handbook, quarterly newsletter and the Council's website. We will consult tenants on all matters relating to the management of their homes.

- 9.2 The Housing Options Service provides advice and assistance to tenants who wish to move home
- 9.3 Support for new tenants includes:
 - Information at the outset on what is expected of a tenant throughout their tenancy.
 For flexible tenancies this will include information on when a new tenancy will be offered.
 - Visits to introductory tenants within four weeks of the start of their tenancy to ensure they have settled into their new home and to provide more detailed information on available services.
 - Regular communication with Housing Officers to make agreements to pay rent and arrears
 - Tenancy support, welfare benefit and debt management advice through our Tenancy Sustainment Officer.
 - Housing related support through our Careline Support Co-ordinators.
 - Close working with the Housing Benefit team to ensure claims are assessed and paid promptly.
 - Referrals to appropriate agencies for tenants with social or mental health issues to help them to live independently.
 - Low cost home contents insurance
- 9.4 Ending a tenancy and seeking possession for a breach of tenancy conditions is always a last resort, and is only ever considered after all available support has been offered but has been declined or failed. Much of the support detailed above is designed to provide support at an early stage and prevent eviction. Even once possession is being pursued, support will continue to be offered, tenants will be clearly advised of the processes being followed, the seriousness of the situation and their legal rights.

10.0 Reviewing the Tenancy Policy

10.1 This Tenancy Policy will be subject to regular review and any changes will be agreed by the Housing & Community Services Committee. The Tenancy Policy will be reviewed every three years or sooner if the Tenancy Strategy is amended, or circumstances and legislation change significantly.

REPORT TO: Housing and Community Services AGENDA ITEM: 9

DATE OF 10th October 2013 CATEGORY: MEETING: DELEGATED/

REPORT FROM: Director of Community and Planning OPEN:

MEMBERS' Stuart Batchelor DOC:

CONTACT POINT: Ext: 5820

SUBJECT: World War One Commemorations REF: SB/SC

WARD(S) All TERMS OF

AFFECTED: REFERENCE: HCS07

1.0 Recommendations

1.1 To note and approve the Council's support and involvement in the programme of events to commemorate the hundred year anniversary of the beginning of World War One.

2.0 Purpose of Report

2.1 To inform Members of the developing range of community led projects and events and gain their approval for the Councils support and involvement in the commemoration of the start of World War One.

3.0 Detail

3.1 Following on from the highly successful 2012 Jubilee and London 2012 celebrations it is important to the community of South Derbyshire that opportunities are taken to ensure important anniversaries and momentous events are celebrated or commemorated in an appropriate manner with the District Council playing an enabling and 'Civic' role in supporting and promoting community activity. With this in mind the hundred year anniversary since the outbreak of World War One should be commemorated in a way that recognizes the sacrifice made by local people along with raising awareness amongst the current population of that period in history and the role played by South Derbyshire.

Coordinating Group

3.2 Representatives of the District Council and the Swadlincote Tourist Information Centre have been liaising with local groups, most notably the Royal British Legion, Air Training Corp and Magic Attic, to collate a programme of projects and events that will enable South Derbyshire to maximise its commemoration of World War One. Many of these projects are totally led by the organisations mentioned and the Council is proposing to provide practical or promotional support to those organisations

Planned and Proposed Events:

- 3.3 The provisional and developing programme is as follows:
 - Ceremony/Open Air Service, Saturday 5th September an event provisionally planned for being held on the Delph in Swadlincote. Followed in the evening by a themed 'Last Night of the Proms' and lighting of the beacon at Rosliston Forestry Centre.
 - 'Trench' Project People Express are progressing an arts project through workshops and art/design delivery to the groups they are involved with. External funding being sought. This project will be unveiled at a future point.
 - **Cycle Routes** 6 routes that take in the WW1 memorials are being prepared, the routes will be available through the Councils website.
 - Cycle Event a community cycle ride around WW1 Memorials to be held.
 - National Forest Walking Festival themed walks to be included in the National Forest Walking Festival for 2014
 - Walking Programme a series of walks taking in WW1 Memorials to be staged throughout 2014.
 - 1211 Air Training Corps (ATC) a commemorative trip to Belgium being organized by the ATC and the Corps are also planning to attend the 2014 Festival of Leisure with an exhibition.
 - Royal British Legion art competition to include all Schools in South Derbyshire.
 - Maurice Lea Memorial Park Teaching Resource with mini guided walk to be developed to explain the World War links with Park.
 - **Sharpe's Pottery** to hold an exhibition on 'Novelty Ware' produced by the potteries in the area during WW1.
 - Poppy Seeds Swadlincote British Legion selling Poppy Seeds via the Swadlincote Tourist Information Centre. All proceeds to the Poppy Appeal Fund. Environmental Education Service to provide 'free poppy seeds' at two events that are part of annual 'Free Tree Scheme'.
 - **Council Owned War Memorials** a number to be 'refreshed' and poppy seeds planted on adjacent areas.
 - Eureka Park Restoration Project naming of paths through the park. Naming / signage reveal event at the end of capital works contract (July 2014). A carpet bed to be created on the site of an existing flower bed to left of War Memorial Gates with a WW1 Commemoration image planted. The legacy would be that bed could be used for community organisations to have display in the summer (e.g.; Homestart, Lions, Rotary etc), then a poppy design or similar in autumn/winter for Remembrance Day.

- **Bandstand Challenge** potential use of bandstands for WW1 songs/tunes by local brass bands.
- Magic Attic staging an exhibition to be shown initially as a preview at Festival of Leisure and then as an exhibition in the Town Hall.
- **Festival of Leisure Exhibition** incorporate a WW1 theme in the event which will be on 28th and 29th June (Anniversary of the assassination of Arch Duke Franz Ferdinand). Saturday 28th June is also Armed Forces Day which will provide further commemorative event opportunities at the Festival.
- Parish Councils a request has been sent out for information on local events which can be featured in future 'What's On Guides'
- 3.4 Further events and projects will continue to be investigated including links with Rolls Royce and the Woodland Trust.
- 3.5 In partnership with South Derbyshire CVS and the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) a workshop has been held for community groups/Parish Councils to promote the HLF scheme for small grants. This will be further promoted through the year with practical support to groups on how to make a successful application.

4.0 Financial Implications

4.1 The current programme of events and projects will be funded from within existing resources.

5.0 Corporate Implications

5.1 The programme of activities for the WW1 commemorations is linked to the Council's Corporate priorities and the key action of the 'promotion of cultural events' in the 'Lifestyle Choice' priority. The project would also contribute to supporting the 'Safer Neighbourhoods' objective of the 'Safe and Secure' priority in that it would provide significant opportunities for community engagement

6.0 Community Implications

6.1 The WW1 commemorations provide the community of South Derbyshire an ideal opportunity to come together around a variety of projects and events which support local empowerment and well being.

7.0 Conclusions

7.1 The WW1 programme build on the community spirit ignited by the 2012 events with the Council continuing to play a supporting role.

.

REPORT TO: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AGENDA ITEM: 10

SERVICES COMMITTEE

DATE OF 10TH OCTOBER 2013 CATEGORY: MEETING: DELEGATED

REPORT FROM: Director of Community & Planning OPEN

Services / Director of Housing &

Environmental Services

MEMBERS' Stuart Batchelor (Ext. 5820) DOC:

CONTACT POINT: Bob Ledger (Ext. 5775)

SUBJECT: WORK PROGRAMME REF:

WARD(S) ALL TERMS OF

AFFECTED: REFERENCE: G

1.0 Recommendations

1.1 That the Committee considers and approves the updated work programme.

2.0 Purpose of Report

2.1 The Committee is asked to consider the updated work programme.

3.0 Detail

3.1 Attached at Annexe 'A' is an updated work programme document. The Committee is asked to consider and review the content of this document.

4.0 Financial Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5.0 Background Papers

5.1 Work Programme.

Housing and Community Services Committee – 10th October, 2013 Work Programme 2013/14

Work Programme Area	Date of Committee meetings	Anticipated completion date	Submitted to Council target date	Contact Officer (Contact details)
Green Bank Leisure Centre Refurbishment and Contract	10 th October 2013			Malcolm Roseburgh Culture and Community Manager (01283 59774)
World War One Commemoration Plans	10 th October 2013			Stuart Batchelor Director of Community and Planning (01283 595820)
Tenancy Policy	10 th October 2013			Richard Knott Housing Operations Manager (01283 595797)
Stock Investment progress report	10 th October 2013			Lee Carter Repairs and Improvement Manager (01283 595957)
Health and Wellbeing	10 th October 2013			Vicky Smyth Health Partnership Manager 01283 535776
Quarterly performance	28 th November 2013			

Work Programme Area	Date of Committee meetings	Anticipated completion date	Submitted to Council target date	Contact Officer (Contact details)
Community Facility Transfer Progress	6 th February 2014			Malcolm Roseburgh Culture and Community Manager (01283 59774)
Stock Investment progress report	6 th February 2014			Lee Carter Repairs and Improvement Manager (01283 595957)